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IN TH E UNITED STATES DISTRICTCOURT
FOR TH E W ESTERN DISTRICTO FTEXAS

AUSTIN DIVISION

AmericanStewardsof Liberty;Ch arlesand
Ch erylSh ell;W alterSidneySh ellM anagement
Trust;Kath rynH e idemann;and RobertV.
H arrison, Sr.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

Departmentofth e Interior;United StatesFish
and W ildlife Service;SallyJewell, inh er
officialcapacityasSecretaryofth e United
StatesDepartmentofth e Interior;DanielM .
Ash e, inh isofficialcapacityasDirectorofth e
United StatesFish and W ildlife Service;and
BenjaminTuggle, inh iscapacityasSouth west
RegionalDirectorofth e United StatesFish and
W ildlife Service,

Defendants.
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CivilActionNo. 1:15-cv-1174

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Itisinth e interestof allAmericansth atfederalagenciesefficientlyutilize th e

limited resources provided to th em by taxpayers, and th atth ey exercise th e irregulatory

auth orityina mannerth atcomportswith commonsense and th e law. W ith regard toth e Bone

Cave h arvestman(Texella reyesi) and th e Endangered SpeciesActof19 73 (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C.

§§1531–1543, Defendantsh ave done neith erof th ese th ings. Defendantsh ave erroneously

concluded th atth e petition, submitted byKath rynH e idemann, Ch arles& Ch erylSh ell, W alter

Sidney Sh ellM anagementTrust, American Stewardsof Liberty, and Steven W . Caroth ers

(collectivelyPetitioners) under16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A)todelistth e Texella reyesi from th e
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listof th reatened speciesunderth e ESA, did notpresentsubstantialscientific information

indicating th atdelisting maybe warranted. 80 Fed. R eg. 30,9 9 0 (June 1, 2015) (h ereinafter,

“Negative Finding”). A true and correctcopyof th e June 1, 2015 Texella reyesi Delisting

Petition, with exh ibits, is attach ed as Exh ibitA and incorporated by reference into th is

Complaint(th e “Delisting Petition”).

2. Plaintiffsrequestth atth isCourtorder, declare, and adjudge th atDefendants

h ave violated th e ESA and th e Administrative Procedure Act(“APA”), §§5 U.S.C. 551–559 ,

and th atth e Courtsetaside th e Negative Finding. Th isaction also seek sdeclaratory and

injunctive reliefpursuantto28 U.S.C. §§2201–2202.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. Th isCourth asjurisdictionoverth isactionpursuantto28 U.S.C. §1331 (actions

arising underth e lawsof th e United States);5 U.S.C. §§702–703 (actionsarising underth e

APA);and 16 U.S.C. §1540(c)(actionsarising underth e ESA).

4. Defendants erroneously made th e Negative Finding. Th e ESA expressly

provides th ata negative 9 0-day finding may be ch allenged in federalcourt. 16 U.S.C.

§1533(b)(3)(C)(ii). An actualcontroversy existsth erefore between th e partieswith in th e

meaning ofth e DeclaratoryJudgmentAct, 28 U.S.C. §§2201(a), 2202.

5. OnSeptember14, 2015, Plaintiffsprovided Defendantsnotice of th e irintentto

file th isaction, pursuantto16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(2)(C). A true and correctcopyofth e 60-Day

Notice of IntenttoBring a CitizenSuitPursuantto16 U.S.C. §1540(g), isattach ed asExh ibit

B and incorporated byreference intoth isComplaint.
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6. Venue inth isjudicialdistrictisproperunder28 U.S.C. §139 1(e)(1), because a

substantialpartofth e eventsoromissionsgiving rise toth e claim occurred inth isdistrictand in

th e State ofTexas.

III. PARTIES

7. Plaintiff American Stewards of Liberty supports th e protection of private

propertyrigh ts, fiscalresponsibility, and environmentallegislationbased uponsound principles

of science, aswellascost-effective solutionstoissuesassociated with propertymanagement.

American Stewardsof Liberty isa ch aritable organization underSection 501(c)(3) of th e

InternalRevenue Code. Itsmembersare primarilycomprised offarming and ranch ing families

wh oh ave beenstewardsof th e land forgenerations. AmericanStewardsof Libertysupports:

th e studyand research ofissuesth ataffectth e protectionofpropertyrigh ts;th e educationofth e

public th rough seminars, publicationsand programsregarding th e protectionofpropertyrigh ts;

and th e initiationof legalproceedingsinvolving th e protectionof propertyrigh ts. American

StewardsofLibertyadvocatesfora balanced approach toenvironmentalregulationwith respect

to th e administration of th e ESA and property righ ts. American Stewards of Liberty is

concerned th atth e continued listing of Texella reyesi isscientificallyunjustified and th atth e

continued listing imposessignificantand unnecessary costsupon property ownersand th e

regulated public. Furth ermore, public and private resourcesexpended asa consequence ofth e

continued listing of th e speciesare be ing diverted from oth eractivities, such asprotecting

speciesactuallyatrisk of extinctionand providing basic public goodstoAmericancitizens.

M embersof th e AmericanStewardsof Libertyownpropertywith inth e areasdesignated as

Texella reyesi’s h abitat. Th ese memberswh ose interestsare directlyh armed byth e land use

restrictionsimposed uponth em underth e ESA reside inand ownpropertyinth e State ofTexas.
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IfDefendantswere enjoined from violating th e ESA and APA, th e h arm toth e interestsofth e

American Stewards of Liberty members caused by Defendants’actions would lik ely be

eliminated, th erebyredressing th e ireconomic injuries. Th isisbecause Defendantslik elywould

proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

8. PlaintiffsCh arlesand Ch erylSh ellreside at6 W estNak oma inRound Rock ,

Texas78634. PlaintiffsCh arlesand Ch erylSh ellownpropertyat5601 CountyRoad 234 in

Jarrell, TX and 6868 H igh way19 5 inFlorence, Texas76527. Plaintiffs’propertyh asbeen

directlyh armed byth e listing ofTexella reyesi and th e land use restrictionsimposed uponth em

underth e ESA. IfDefendantswere enjoined from violating th e ESA and APA, th e h arm toth e

interestsof PlaintiffsCh arlesand Ch erylSh ellcaused byDefendants’actionswould lik elybe

eliminated, th erebyredressing th e ireconomic injuries. Th isisbecause Defendantslik elywould

proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

9 . PlaintiffW alterSidneySh ellM anagementTrustlocated at6868 H igh way19 5 in

Florence, Texas76527. Plaintiffownspropertyat6868 H igh way19 5, Florence, Texas76527.

Plaintiff’spropertyh asbeendirectlyh armed byth e listing of Texella reyesi byth e land use

restrictionsimposed uponitunderth e ESA. If Defendantswere enjoined from violating th e

ESA and APA, th e h arm toth e interestsof Plaintiff W alterSidneySh ellM anagementTrust

caused byDefendants’actionswould lik elybe eliminated, th erebyredressing th e ireconomic

injuries.

10. Plaintiff Kath ryn H e idemann residesat19 0 H e iderosa Run in Georgetown,

Texas78633. Plaintiff H e idemannownspropertyalong th e W estside of CountyRoad 245

North ofRonald ReganBoulevard located inGeorgetown, Texas. Plaintiff’spropertyh asbeen

directlyh armed byth e listing of Texella reyesi and th e land use restrictionsimposed uponh er
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underth e ESA underth e ESA. IfDefendantswere enjoined from violating th e ESA and APA,

th e h arm toth e interestsofPlaintiff H e idemanncaused byDefendants’actionswould lik elybe

eliminated, th erebyredressing h ereconomic injuries. Th isisbecause Defendantslik elywould

proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

11. Plaintiff RobertV. H arrison, Sr. residesat500 H arrisonLane inGeorgetown,

Texas78628. Plaintiff H arrisonownspropertyalong Lak e Georgetown. Plaintiff’sproperty

h asbeendirectlyh armed byth e listing of Texella reyesi and th e land use restrictionsimposed

uponh im underth e ESA underth e ESA. IfDefendantswere enjoined from violating th e ESA

and APA, th e h arm toth e interestsof Plaintiff H arrisoncaused byDefendants’actionswould

lik elybe eliminated, th erebyredressing h iseconomic injuries. Th isisbecause Defendants

lik elywould proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

12. DefendantDepartmentofInteriorisanagencyofth e United Statesch arged with

administering th e ESA fornon-marine species.

13. Defendantth e H onorable SallyJewell(Secretary) isbe ing sued inh erofficial

capacityasSecretaryof th e United StatesDepartmentof Interior. Congressdelegatestoth e

Secretary certain responsibilities for th e Interior Department’s implementation and

administrationofth e ESA. Th e Secretary’sresponsibilitiesinclude administering th e ESA for

th e benefitof speciesand th e public. Th e Secretaryisrequired toensure properresponsesto

petitionsfiled under16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A)todelistspecies.

14. DefendantUnited StatesFish and W ildlife Service (“USFW S”) isan agency

with inth e InteriorDepartmentwh ich h asth e delegated responsibilitiesof administering and

implementing th e ESA, including provisionsconcerning responsestopetitionsfiled under16

U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A)todelistspecies.
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15. DefendantDanielM . Ash e (Director) isbe ing sued in h isofficialcapacityas

Directorof th e USFW S. Th e Secretarydelegatesmostof h erESA auth oritytoth e Director,

wh oisresponsible forresponsestopetitionsfiled under16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A) todelist

species.

16. DefendantBenjamin Tuggle is be ing sued in h is officialcapacity as th e

South westRegionalDirector(RegionalDirector)ofth e USFW S. Th e Directordelegatesmost

ofh isESA auth oritytoth e RegionalDirector, wh oisresponsible forresponsestopetitionsfiled

inth e South westRegionunder16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A)todelistspecies.

IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS AND STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

17. Congressenacted th e ESA “to provide a program forth e conservation of. . .

endangered speciesand th reatened species.”16 U.S.C. §1531(b).

18. Aspartofth isprogram, Defendantsh ave th e statutoryauth oritytolista species

aseith erendangered orth reatened underth e ESA. See 16 U.S.C. §1533(a)(1). Th e term

“species”includes“anysubspeciesof fish orwildlife orplants, and anydistinctpopulation

segmentofanyspeciesofvertebrate fish orwildlife .” 16 U.S.C. §1532(16).

19 . Defendantsare required tomak e listing determinations“solelyonth e basisofth e

bestscientific and commercialdata available toh im afterconducting a review ofth e statusof

th e species.”16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(1)(A).

20. “Toth e maximum extentpracticable, with in9 0 daysafterrece iving th e petition

of an interested person. . . toremove a speciesfrom”th e listof th reatened and endangered

species, Defendantsmust“mak e a finding asto wh eth erth e petition presentssubstantial

scientific orcommercialinformationindicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted.”

16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A).
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21. USFW S regulations define “substantial information” as “th at amount of

informationth atwould lead a reasonable persontobelieve th atth e measure proposed inth e

petitionmaybe warranted.”50 C.F.R. §424.14(b)(1).

22. Sh ould USFW S find th at th e petition presents substantial scientific or

commercialinformationindicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted, th en, with in12

month safterrece iving a petition, Defendantsmust“promptlycommence a review ofth e status

ofth e speciesconcerned,”and “promptlypublish each finding made underth issubparagraph in

th e FederalRegister.” 16 U.S.C. §§1533(b)(3)(A)–(B). Th is“12-month ”review isa more

th orough review th anth e 9 0-dayfinding and isnotconstrained toth e petition.

23. Everyfive yearsand independentof th e processsetforth forcitizen-submitted

petitions, th e Secretaryof th e Interiormustconducta statusreview of each listed speciesto

determine wh eth er a ch ange in th e species’ listing status is warranted. 16 U.S.C.

§1533(c)(2)(A). Th erein, th e Secretarymustdetermine onth e basisof such review wh eth er

anysuch speciessh ould—

(i) be removed from such list;

(ii) be ch anged instatusfrom anendangered speciestoa th reatened species;or

(iii) be ch anged instatusfrom a th reatened speciestoanendangered species.

Id. §1533(c)(2)(B).

24. Th e standardsfordelisting a speciesare th e same asth ose forlisting a species.

50 C.F.R. §424.11(d).

25. In19 88, USFW S made largelyunsupported assumptionsastoTexella reyesi’s

rarityand listed th e speciesasendangered. 53 Fed. Reg. 36,029 (Sept. 16, 19 88). Since Texella

reyesi’s listing in19 88, th ere h asbe ena more th an30-fold increase inth e numberof caves
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k nowntobe inh abited byth e species, from five to172. Asmore data h ave beengath ered, th e

rarityth eorized byth e USFW S in19 88 h asbeensh owntobe inerror. Furth ermore, significant

conservationmeasuresare inplace, with atleast9 4 occupied sites(or55 percentof th e total

k nownsites)currentlyprotected inpreserves, park s, oroth eropenspaces.

26. Biologistscontinue todiscovernew occupied sites, and th istrend islik elyto

continue asmore areasare explored and more cavesare discovered. New informationindicates

th atth isspeciesinh abitsnotjustcavesth ath umanscanaccess, buttinycrack sand voidsofall

sizesinth e limestone substrate ofTravisand W illiamsoncountiesnorth ofth e ColoradoRiver.

Developmentactivitiesonth e surface are notasdetrimentaltoTexella reyesi asth e USFW S

originallyassumed.

27. Texella reyesi lives successfully in InnerSpace Caverns, a h eavily-visited

recreationalattractionlocated underanInterstate H igh wayaswellasindozensof oth erwell-

k nown cavessurrounded by development. In addition, state and localordinancesalready

protectmostcavesin Travisand W illiamson counties(e .g., City of Austin Environmental

Criteria M anual, City of Georgetown Resolution No. 122013-C, Texas Commission on

EnvironmentalQuality's (TCEQ) EdwardsAquiferRules, and th e TCEQ TexasPollution

Disch arge EliminationSystem).

28. Since th e listing 27 yearsago, th e USFW S h asassumed th atsurface disturbance

above a void orcave caused destructionofth e subsurface ecosystem. Th rough outth attime, th e

USFW S h asrequired th atdevelopmentsbe severelyrestricted inth e vicinityofcavesoccupied

byTexella reyesi. Infact, underth e W illiamsonCountyRegionalH abitatConservationPlan,

landownersmustpayupto$400,000 todevelopwith in50 feetof anoccupied cave footprint

and $10,000 anacre todevelopwith in50 feetto375 feetofanoccupied cave footprint.
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29 . Dozensof projectsunderactive construction, including importantpublic work s

projects, h ave be enputonh old, sometimesforweek s, with contractorsand equipmentidled so

th atbiologistscould conductsurveysforTexella reyesi and coordinate with USFW S staff.

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS REGARDING THE BONE CAVE HARVESTMAN
(TEXELLA REYESI) REGULATORY STATUS AND ITS IMPACT ON PLAINTIFFS

AND THE STATE OF TEXAS

30. In19 88, Defendantslisted Texella reyesi asa federallyprotected endangered

species. Th e USFW S firstlisted Texella reyesi asendangered underth e ESA in19 88 underth e

name Bee Cree k Cave h arvestman(Texella reddelli). 53 Fed. Reg. 36,029 (Sept. 16, 19 88).

31. Texella reyesi remainslisted asanendangered species, creating significantcosts

forpeople and businesses th rough outW illiamson and Travis counties, Texas, including

Plaintiffs.

32. OnSeptember6, 19 88, th e USFW S publish ed a finalrule tolistasendangered

five speciesof k arstinvertebratesk nowntooccuronlyinTravisand W illiamsoncounties,

Texas. 53 Fed. Reg. 36,029 (Sept. 16, 19 88). Th isfinalrule, wh ich became effective onth e

date of publication, extended th e protectionof th e ESA toth e Texella reddelli, among oth er

k arstinvertebrates.

33. In supportof th e 19 88 finallisting rule, th e USFW S relied on only seven

referenced data sourcestosubstantiate th e listing ofth e Texella reddelli and th e oth erspecies.

O fth ese sources, onlyone (Goodnigh t& Goodnigh t19 67)h ad anyreference specific toTexella

reddelli. In th e finalrule, Texella reddelli wasconfirmed from only five cavesand was

believed toexist, butwasnotconfirmed, ina sixth . Th e k nownrange ofth e speciesextended a

distance of approximately21 milesalong th e edge of th e EdwardsPlateau(75 square miles).

Th e USFW S decisiontolistTexella reddelli (lateridentified asTexella reyesi) wasbased on

verylimited informationaboutth e species(including basic taxonomy) and wasprompted by
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concernsaboutpotentialadverse effectsof developmentactivitiesata time wh en th e link

betweensuch activitiesand actualeffectsonth e specieswasunk nown.

34. Inresponse toa publish ed taxonomic studybyUbick and Briggsin19 9 2, th e

USFW S determined in19 9 3 th atTexella reddelli wasactuallytwodistinctspecies. 58 Fed.

Reg. 43,818 (Aug. 18, 19 9 3). Th e newlyidentified species, Texella reyesi, wasafforded th e

same protectionsunderth e ESA asTexella reddelli. Th e USFW S publish ed a “tech nical

correction,”wh ich statesth at“both of th ese speciescontinue toface th e same generalth reats

identified inth e originallisting ofth e Bee Cree k Cave h arvestman[Texella reddelli].” 58 Fed.

Reg. 43,818 (Aug. 18, 19 9 3). Th e USFW S ack nowledged th atby“including newlydiscovered

localities”ofth e Texella reyesi, th e k nownrange ofth e speciesexpanded from 21 milesto31

milesalong th e edge ofth e EdwardsPlateau.

35. Inth e 19 9 3 finalrule, th e omissionof anyassessmentof available substantive

scientific data beyond Ubick and Briggs(19 9 2)wasanoversigh tofsubstantialsignificance to

th e actualappropriatenessofth e listing. Atth e time th e finalrule waspublish ed, progresswas

wellunderway toward developing th e 19 9 4 Endangered KarstInvertebrates (Travis and

W illiamsoncounties, Texas) RecoveryPlan(19 9 4 RecoveryPlan). Th e 19 9 4 RecoveryPlan

(wh ich addressesTexella reyesi and sixoth erlisted k arstinvertebrates) includesanextensive

nine-page listof references, including 32 publicationsand reportsth atare of relevance to

Texella reyesi. None ofth ese sourceswere explicitlyconsidered inth e determinationtoextend

th e protectionsofth e ESA toTexella reyesi. Th ismeansth atatth e time ofth e 19 9 3 tech nical

correction, a substantialbodyof new informationwasavailable toth e USFW S th atwasnot

considered oranalyzed inth e finallisting rule forTexella reyesi, indicating th atth e decision

wasnotbased onth e bestavailable scientific data available atth e time.
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36. Because th e bestscientific evidence demonstratesth atth e Texella reyesi isnotan

endangered speciesorsubspecies, and because of th e significantcostsassociated with th e

regulatorystatusof Texella reyesi asanendangered species, Plaintiffspetitioned Defendants,

under16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A), to remove th e Texella reyesi from th e listof endangered

species.

37. In2009 , fifteenyearsafterth e release of th e 19 9 4 RecoveryPlan, th e USFW S

completed a 5-yearstatusreview of Texella reyesi and, remark ably, in spite of new data

documenting th e increased numberofprotected locationsforth e species, arbitrarilydetermined

th atnoch ange inlisting statuswaswarranted. Th e 2009 statusreview doesnotevaluate anyof

th e ESA listing factorsand providesnoanalysisofnew scientific orcommercialdata inrelation

toth ose factors. W h ile itdoesconfirm th atatth e time th ere were 168 k nownoccupied caves

containing Texella reyesi distributed acrossallKarstFauna Regions(KFRs), a substantial

increase overth ose k nownatth e time of th e 19 9 4 RecoveryPlanand a 30-fold increase over

th ose k nownatth e time of listing, itdoesnotevaluate th e implicationsof th ese additional

k nownsitesforth e species’risk ofextinction.

38. Since listing in19 88, a significantamountof new scientific and commercial

informationh asbecome available th atdemonstratesnotonlyth atTexella reyesi isa distinct

species, butth atTexella reyesi occursinsignificantlymore locationsth anoriginallybelieved.

Giventh e vastlyincreased numberofk nownsitesoccupied byth e species, manyofwh ich sites

are protected, th e th reatstoth e speciesare notofa magnitude orintensityth atislik elytocause

th e extinctionof th e speciesnow orinth e foreseeable future. Th e circumstancesof Texella

reyesi are similartoth ose inth e examplesbelow, wh ere th e considerationofnew populationsor

occupied sitesprompted th e USFW S todelist. Lik e th e Utah Valvata snail(described below),
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Texella reyesi h asdemonstrated th e abilitytopersistand th rive inconditionswh ere th e USFW S

assessmentof th reatswould indicate a decline orextirpation. Th ese examplessupportth e

conclusion th atth e protectionsof th e ESA are notwarranted forTexella reyesi since th e

existence ormagnitude of th reatstoth e species, orboth , donotsupporta conclusionth atth e

speciesisatrisk ofextinctionnow orinth e foreseeable future.

 Pine Barrens treefrog (Hyla andersonii) (48 Fed. Reg. 52,740) – In 19 83, th e Florida

populationof th e Pine Barrenstreefrog wasdelisted due toa finding th atth e originaldata

wasinerror. Th e USFW S stated, “recentevidence indicatesth atth e speciesismuch more

widelydistributed th anoriginallyk nown.” Atth e time ofth e listing, th ere were onlyseven

k nownlocalitiesof th isspeciesinFlorida, and th e predominantth reatwascited as“th e

presentorth reatened modification, orcurtailmentof itsh abitatorrange.” By19 79 , several

more populationswere identified, and by19 80 th ere were over150 confirmed occupied

locationsforth e species(anincrease ofatleast2,042%). Th e finalrule noted th atwh ile th e

overalldistributionofth e specieswasrelativelylimited, th e lik elih ood of discovering more

k nownlocalitiesinconsiderationwith th e additionalnew sitesdiscovered indicated th at“th e

Florida populationisrelativelysecure forth e immediate future.”

 Rydberg Milk-Vetch (Astragalus perianus) (54 Fed. Reg. 37,911) – In19 89 , th e Rydberg

milk -vetch wasdelisted onth e basisof erroneousdata. Atth e time wh enth isspecieswas

listed, th ere wasonly one k nown locality. Th e subsequentdelisting wasbased on th e

discoveryof 11 additionallocalitiesovernine yearsof research (an increase of 1,100%).

Th isdelisting wassupported byth e existence of regulatorymech anismsth atminimized th e

impactsofth e th reatsidentified inth e initiallisting factors.
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 McKittrick pennyroyal (Hedeoma apiculatum) (58 Fed. Reg. 49,244) – In 19 9 3, th e

M cKittrick pennyroyalwasdelisted because of“th e numberofnewlydiscovered populations

and th e remote and inaccessible nature of th e h abitat.” Th isspecieswask nownfrom only

twocountiesatth e time of listing and continuestobe onlyk nownfrom twocounties, one

each inTexasand New M exico. Atth e time oflisting, th ere were sevenk nownlocalitiesof

th e species. Atth e time of delisting, th ere were 36 k nownpopulationsof th e species(an

increase of 414%). Th e USFW S determined th atsince th isplantspeciesoccursinh ard-to-

reach h abitats, itislik elyth atitsdistributionisevenbroaderth anth e confirmed locations

and th atitsnaturalpreferred h abitatlimitsth e lik elih ood ofh uman-related impacts.

 Utah (Desert) Valvata snail (Valvata utahensis) (75 Fed. Reg 52,272) –In2010, th e Utah

Valvata snailwasdelisted onth e basisofnew information. Atth e time oflisting in19 9 2, th e

specieswasbelieved tooccurinonly“a few springsand mainstem Snak e R iversites”at

isolated pointsalong th e Snak e R iver. Th e specieswasdelisted afterdata sh owed th atth e

speciesrange extended an additional122 milesbeyond th e initially identified range (an

increase inth e k nownrange of118.5%). Th e USFW S determined th atdue toth e increased

range ofth e species, th e listing factorswould notcontribute toth e lik elih ood ofth e species

be ing th reatened with extinctioninth e foreseeable future. Among th e th reatsdiscussed,

impactsto itsh abitatfrom agriculturaland industrialpurposeswere excluded asth reats

because “th e speciespersistsin th ese varied mainstem Snak e R iversystems, including

impounded reservoirh abitats.” 75 Fed. Reg. at52,280. Th isdistinctioniscriticalbecause,

despite th e continued presence of previouslyperceived th reats, th e proven abilityof th e

speciestocontinue toth rive inth ose conditionssupported delisting.
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 Tennessee cave beetles (80 Fed. Reg. 60,834) – Veryrecently, th e USFW S publish ed a

“Notice of 12-M onth Petition Findings”concluding th atlisting six cave-dwelling be etle

specieswasnotwarranted. Th e be etlesvaryinrarity— 2013–2015 surveyresultsindicated

th atfourof th e beetle speciesare k nownfrom onlyone ortwolocations, and th e most

“plentiful”of th e six beetle specieswask nown to occurin potentiallyfive caves. Th e

USFW S also identified waterquality impacts, erosion resulting construction, livestock

operations, h umanvisitationof caves, curtailmentof organic materialstocaves, excavation

ofcave h abitats, and predationasstressorstoth e beetle species. Despite th e irapparentrarity

and th e noted stressors, th e USFW S concluded th atth e actualimpactsfrom potential

stressorstoth e beetlesappeartobe minimal. Inreach ing itsconclusion, th e USFW S stated

th at“[t]h e recentevidence ofcontinued persistence ofth ese species, inconjunctionwith th e

lack ofevidence th atstressorsare negativelyaffecting th ese cave be etles, lead ustoconclude

th atth ese speciesare more stable th anpreviouslyth ough t.”

39 . Th e Delisting Petitiondocumentsmore th an165 localitiesth anwere k nownat

th e time oflisting. Th e Delisting Petitionalsoprovidesdata demonstrating th atTexella reyesi’s

resilience toh umanactivitiesisstrongerth anth e USFW S h ad originallydetermined atth e time

oflisting. Th e Delisting Petitionincludesscientific supportsh owing:

 Knownlocalitiesh ave increased from five orsixatth e time oflisting to172 today.

 Significantconservationisinplace with atleast9 4 totalk nownlocalities(55 percentofth e

totalk nownlocalities) currentlyprotected inpreserves, park s, oroth eropenspaces. Th ere

are more th ananorderofmagnitude more protected localitiesth anth ere were totalknown

localitiesatth e time ofth e listing.
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 Regulatoryprotectionsare afforded tomostcavesinTravisand W illiamsoncountiesvia

state lawsand regulationsand localordinances. Th ese protectionsare e ith erspecific to

Texella reyesi orh ave a collateralprotective effectforTexella reyesi.

 Biologistscontinue todiscovernew, occupied localities, and th istrend islik elytocontinue as

more areasare explored and more cavesare discovered.

40. Th e Delisting Petition also containsa review of th e ESA listing factorsand

providessupportforth e conceptth atdevelopmentactivitiesonth e surface maynotresultinth e

significantlossordegradationofth e subsurface h abitatforTexella reyesi asoriginallyth ough t,

providing severalexamples, including InnerSpace Caverns, wh ich demonstrate th atth e species

canpersistincaveswith frequenth umanvisitationand maybe more tolerantofrelated h abitat

modificationsth anoriginallybelieved. Additionally, recentstudiessuggestth atfire antsmay

notpresentassignificantoraslasting of a th reatto th e species as originally believed.

M oreover, th e regulatory landscape includes a number of measures contributing to th e

conservationofth e speciesoutside ofth e protectionsafforded byth e ESA. Finally, th e use of

smallvoids, or“mesocaverns,”with inth e geologic formationsk nowntosupportoccupied caves

mitigatesth e potentialth reatofclimate ch ange.

41. Th e Delisting Petition concludes th atdelisting Texella reyesi is warranted,

because th e listing wasclearlyinerrorastoth e perceived rarityand k nownextentof Texella

reyesi and onth e basisofboth : (1)significantconservationand regulatoryeffortsprotective of

th e species; and (2) information and analysisindicating th e existence and/ormagnitude of

previouslyidentified th reatsdonotsupporta conclusionth atth e speciesisatrisk ofextinction

now orinth e foreseeable future.
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42. OnApril15, 2015, over10 month safterth e Plaintiffssubmitted th e Delisting

Petitionand with th e USFW S 9 0-dayfinding outstanding, th e USFW S announced th atitwould

be conducting a five -yearreview of Texella reyesi underth e processsetforth in50 C.F.R.

§424.21 80 Fed. Reg. 20,241 (Apr. 15, 2015).

43. Despite th e scientific supportsetforth inth e Delisting Petition, onJune 1, 2015,

a fullyearafterth e Plaintiff submitted th e Delisting Petition, th e USFW S announced its

Negative Finding, concluding th atth e Delisting Petitiondid notpresentsubstantialinformation

indicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted. 80 Fed. Reg. 30,9 9 0. Th e USFW S

identified itsch arge asfollows: “W e mustconsider[th e five listing factors] in delisting a

species. W e maydelista speciesaccording to50 CFR 424.11(d) ifth e bestavailable scientific

and commercialdata indicate th atth e speciesisneith erendangered north reatened forth e

following reasons: (1)th e speciesisextinct;(2)th e speciesisrecovered;or(3)th e originaldata

forclassificationwere inerror.”80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 1.

44. In itsNegative Finding, th e USFW S did notanalyze th e originalerrorin

classificationmade inth e 19 88 listing and onlybrieflynoted th e reclassification. 80 Fed. Reg.

at30,9 9 1.

45. Instead, initsNegative Finding, th e USFW S noted:

 “[T]h e petition states th at9 4 k arstpreserve areas are currently providing significant
conservation. H owever, manyof th e existing protected areasreferenced inth e petitionare
too smallto meetourpreserve design recommendations… .[A]tmostof th e remaining
locations… we are lack ing information to confirm th atth ey meetth e preserve design
criteria… .H ence, we are unsure wh eth erth ose areash ave adequate undeveloped acreage,
management, orprotectionmech anismstoensure th e long-term protectionand survivalof
th e Bone Cave h arvestman.”80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 3.

 “Th e petitionassertsth atfouradditionallocationsare k nownsince th e time of th e 5-year
review. H owever, th e petitiondoesnotprovide adequate informationth atwould support
wh eth er th ese four additional locations are in a condition to meetpreserve design
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recommendations… .Regardless, th e amountof protected k arstfauna area stillfallssh ortof
th e criteria forreclassificationfrom endangered toth reatened.” 80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 3.

 “Th e currentpetitionassertsth at‘Developmentactivitiesonth e surface maynotresultinth e
significantlossordegradation of h abitatforTexella reyesi asoriginally th ough t’and
suggeststh atevidence of th isisth e speciespersistence incavessurrounded bydeveloped
areas… .H owever, th e observation of th e speciesin th ese locationsdoesnotmean th e ir
populationsatth ese locationsare th riving orcan with stand th e long-term impactsfrom
development activities th at are expected to occur… .Information adequate to detect
population trendsforth isspeciesisnotreadily available and wasnotprovided in th e
petition.”80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 3.

 “Th e commercialcave k nown asInnerSpace Cavernsisanoth erexample th e petition
provided wh ere th e Bone Cave h arvestman continues to persistin a developed area.
Alth ough th e Bone Cave h arvestmanmaybe presentatInnerSpace Caverns, th isdoesnot
ensure th e irpopulationsare robustand secure;th eymaystillbe declining, and are atrisk due
to competition with surface -dwelling invertebrates and oth er th reats associated with
developmentsuch asth e potentialforcontamination… .Th e petitionfailed toprovide any
data adequate toassesstrendsinth e k arstinvertebrate population inrelationtoth e time
(durationand frequency)th atth eyh ave beenexposed toth e artificialligh ting.” 80 Fed. Reg.
at30,9 9 4.

 “W h ile th e petitiondid discusssome new ordinancesth atappeartoh ave beenputinplace
since th e time oflisting, we donoth ave enough informationtoindicate wh eth erornotth ese
State and localordinancesprovide enough protection from allth reatsto th e Bone Cave
h arvestman.”80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 5.

 “Th e petitionprovided notrend analysistoindicate th atth isspeciescanwith stand th e th reats
associated with developmentorclimate ch ange overth e long term.”80 Fed. Reg. at30,9 9 6.

46. USFW S’ Negative Finding applied a more stringent standard th an th e

“reasonable person”standard required byitsownregulations. USFW S erroneouslyplaced th e

burdenonth e Delisting Petitiontodemonstrate satisfactionofth e RecoveryPlanobjectivesfor

a speciesth atwasclearlylisted inerrorand wh ich isfarmore widespread and enjoysformore

protectionsth ansixspecies(e .g., Tennessee cave beetles) USFW S recentlydetermined notto

listatall.
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VI. SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS THAT SUPPORT DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

47. Plaintiffsh erebyreallege and incorporate byreference th e allegationscontained

inParagraph s1 th rough 46 asth ough fullysetforth h erein.

48. Anactualand substantialcontroversyexistsbetweenPlaintiffsand Defendants

overDefendants’dutytocomplywith th e ESA and APA inmak ing a finding astowh eth er

Plaintiffs’Texella reyesi Delisting Petition “presents substantialscientific orcommercial

informationindicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted.”16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A).

Plaintiffscontend th atDefendantsh ave violated th e ESA and APA by: (1)failing torecognize

th e originalclassification error, asmandated by50 C.F.R. § 424.11(d); (2) failing to limit

review toth e Delisting Petitionand instead attempting togath eradditional, externalinformation

th rough a newly-announced five -yearstatus review;1 (3) applying th e wrong evidentiary

standard and failing to apply th e “substantial information” standard; and (4) ignoring,

misconstruing, and/orsubverting scientific information.

49 . Th iscase iscurrentlyjusticiable because Defendantsh ave failed tofollow th e

ESA and its implementing regulations in determining wh eth er Plaintiffs’ Texella reyesi

Delisting Petition“presentssubstantialscientific orcommercialinformationindicating th atth e

petitioned actionmaybe warranted.”16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A).

50. Declaratory and injunctive relief is, th erefore, appropriate to resolve th is

controversy.

1 Plaintiffsrecognize th atUSFW S and th e NationalM arine Fish eriesServices(“NM FS”) h ave
proposed amendmentstoth e irlisting regulationsth atwould clarifyth atUSFW S and NM FS may
consider, inadditiontoth e petition, informationth atisreadilyavailable inth e relevantagency’s
possessionatth e time itmak esa 9 0-dayfinding. 80 Fed. Reg. 29 ,286, 29 ,29 0 (M ay21, 2015).
Th e proposed amendmentsdonotgosofarastoexpand th e USFW S’scope ofreview toinclude
th e solicitationofadditionalinformationatth e 9 0-daystage.
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VII. FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A),
Failure To Comply with the ESA in Reaching a 90-day Determination on a Petition To

Delist a Species)

51. Plaintiffsreallege paragraph s1–46 asth ough setforth infullineach and every

allegationofth isclaim.

52. Defendantsh ave a mandatoryand nondiscretionarydutyunderth e ESA tomak e

a finding ona petitiontodelista speciesbyindicating, toth e maximum extentpracticable,

with in9 0 dayswh eth erth e petition“presentssubstantialscientific orcommercialinformation

indicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted.”16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A).

53. Defendants exceeded th e irregulatory auth ority in determining wh eth erth e

Delisting Petitionpresented substantialinformationth atth e petitionactionmaybe warranted

by: (1) failing to recognize th e originalclassification error, asmandated byregulation; (2)

failing tolimitreview of th e Delisting Petitionand instead attempting togath eradditional,

externalinformation th rough a newly-announced five -yearstatusreview; (3) applying th e

wrong standard and failing toapplyth e “substantialinformation”standard;and (4) ignoring,

misconstruing, and/orsubverting scientific informationinviolationofth e ESA.

54. Inligh tofth e foregoing, USFW S violated th e ESA and APA.

VIII. SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),
Unlawful Agency Action)

55. Plaintiffsreallege paragraph s1-46 asth ough setforth infullineach and every

allegationofth isclaim.

56. Defendantsh ave a mandatoryand nondiscretionarydutyunderth e ESA tomak e

a finding ona petitiontodelista speciesbyindicating with in9 0 days, toth e maximum extent
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practicable, wh eth erth e petition “presentssubstantialscientific orcommercialinformation

indicating th atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted.”16 U.S.C. §1533(b)(3)(A).

57. Defendants exceeded th e irregulatory auth ority in determining wh eth erth e

Delisting Petitionpresented substantialinformationth atth e petitioned actionmaybe warranted.

Inmak ing itsNegative Finding, th e USFW S wasarbitrary, capricious, abused itsdiscretionand

acted contrarytolaw.

Inligh tofth e foregoing, USFW S violated th e ESA and APA.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

W H EREFORE, Plaintiffsprayforjudgmentfrom th isCourtasfollows:

1. Declare Defendantsviolated th e ESA and APA wh en determining wh eth er

Plaintiffs’Texella reyesi Delisting Petition “presents substantialscientific orcommercial

informationindicating th at”delisting ofth e Texella reyesi maybe warranted;

2. Setaside th e Negative Finding;

3. DirectDefendantstoremedyth e violationsofth e ESA and APA;

3. Retain jurisdiction overth ismatteruntilsuch time asDefendantsh ave fully

complied with th e ESA and APA;

4. Award Plaintiffscostsoflitigationpursuantto16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(4)or, inth e

alternative, 28 U.S.C. §2412;and

5. GrantPlaintiff anaward of anyoth erfurth errelief th atth e Courtdeemsproper

underth e circumstancesofth iscase.
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DATED: December15, 2015

Respectfullysubmitted,

NOSSAM AN LLP
816 CongressAvenue, Suite 9 70
Austin, TX 78701
Teleph one: 512.651.0660
Facsimile: 512.651.0770

By: /s/ Alan M. Glen
AlanM . Glen
TexasState BarNo. 08250100
aglen@ nossaman.com
Brook e M . W ah lberg
TexasState BarNo. 240559 00
bwah lberg@ nossaman.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs American Stewards of
Liberty; Charles and Cheryl Shell; Walter Sidney
Shell Management Trust; Kathryn Heidemann; and
Robert V. Harrison, Sr.
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